
Executive Member Decisions

Friday, 14th September, 2018
Time Not Specified

AGENDA

1.  Proposed Experimental Traffic Regulation Order - 
Ewood Park Football Ground, Prohibition of Driving, 
Event Day coach parking
Decision Form - TRO
EIA TRO
Appendix 1 - Schedule
Appendix 2 - Plans

2 - 9

2.  Informal Tender re the Disposal of Council Land at the 
former Blackburn Markets Site
EMD-Former Blackburn Markets Development Site v1.0
EIA- Former Blackburn Markets Development Site v0.01
Annex A - Site Location Plan
Annex B - Blackburn TC with Investment Areas

10 - 19

Date Published: Date Not Specified 
Harry Catherall, Chief Executive

Public Document Pack



EMD: V3/18 Page 1 of 3

EXECUTIVE MEMBER DECISION
REPORT OF: Executive Member for Regeneration

LEAD OFFICERS: Deputy Chief Executive

DATE: 13th August 2018

PORTFOLIO/S 
AFFECTED: 

Regeneration                                  

WARD/S AFFECTED: Ewood                                   

SUBJECT: Proposed Experimental Traffic Regulation Order – Ewood Park Football Ground,   
                   Prohibition of Driving, Event Day coach parking
                   

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
To inform the Executive Member for Regeneration of the proposal to introduce an Experimental  
Traffic Regulation Order as detailed below and seek approval to make it:-
Nuttall Street, Blackburn ………………………Prohibition of Driving except for access Event Day Only 
Top O’ Th’ Croft…………………………………Prohibition of Driving except for access Event Day Only
Velvet Street, Blackburn……………………….Prohibition of Driving except for access Event Day Only
Tweed Street, Blackburn………………………Prohibition of Driving except for access Event Day Only
Kidder Street, Blackburn……………………… Prohibition of Driving except for access Event Day Only
Tapestry Street, Blackburn…………………… Prohibition of Driving except for access Event Day Only
Calico Street, Blackburn……………………… Prohibition of Driving except for access Event Day Only
Bolton Road, Blackburn………………………. Prohibition of Driving except for access Event Day Only
Aqueduct Road, Blackburn…………………… Prohibition of Driving except for access Event Day Only
Albion Road, Blackburn………………………...Coach parking 7am – 11pm Event Day only

2. RECOMMENDATIONS
That the Executive Member:
Authorise the Director of HR, Legal and Governance to advertise and make the proposed 
Experimental Traffic Regulation Order as per the attached schedule.  The order will be made for a 
maximum of 18 months.  If no objections, the order can be made permanent by a separate order.

3. BACKGROUND
Following a court case between Wigan Football Club and Greater Manchester Police, responsibility 
for traffic management at football matches and on event days has passed to local authorities and 
event organisers.  Since then, Lancashire Constabulary ceased to be responsible for traffic 
management on matchdays at Ewood Park Football Ground and Blackburn Rovers took over, 
employing their own traffic management contractors to carry out those duties. These duties are 
mainly road closures and management of access to streets around the ground.  

The purpose of this report is to seek approval to implement an experimental Traffic Regulation Order 
introducing restrictions similar to those used previously by the police under the Town Police Clauses 
Act 1847.  

Page 2

Agenda Item 1



EMD: V3/18 Page 2 of 3

Lancashire Police and Blackburn Rovers have requested that a more formal arrangement is 
introduced for coach parking near to the ground.  A previous coach park is no longer available and 
currently coaches are parking at the bus interchange between Aqueduct Road and Kidder street.  
This parking impacts on residents and it is proposed to introduce coach parking on match and event 
days only on Albion Road.

4. KEY ISSUES & RISKS
No risks arising from this proposal have been identified.  The proposal is of benefit to the social and 
economic well being of the Borough as traffic queues will be reduced in the area and the safety for 
road users will be improved.

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS
The proposal to make and revoke Traffic Regulation Orders requires delegated approval from the 
Executive Member for Regeneration and Chief Officer.  Traffic Regulation Orders are required to be 
published in the local press and on site to comply with the Road Traffic Regulations Act 1984.  
Directly affected properties are consulted in line with current procedure.

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
The cost of making and advertising this Traffic Regulation Order will be approximately £2500 and will 
be funded from the Traffic and Transportation element of the Highways Maintenance budget.

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
The necessary legal powers to implement this scheme are within the Road Traffic Regulations Act 
1984.  The advertising of the proposals will enable comments/objections and suggestions on how the 
experimental order may be improved by variation from members of the public as well as relevant 
council highway officers.

Experimental orders are predominantly to provide the Highways Authority with a proper period of time 
to test the effects of a traffic order.  An experimental order enables the impact of the new restriction to 
be examined and potentially minor changes made to address unforeseen issues more readily.  For an 
experimental order the objection period is 6 months which allows people to raise any objections or 
recommendations they may have with knowledge of how the restriction really works.  Hence the 
recommendation for the review after 6 months is a reasonable and appropriate requirement although 
additionally the recommendation could be to continue with the experimental order for a further period 
if it was considered necessary.  The order could be modified sooner than the initial 6 months 
depending on how it was operating and the interim objections and feedback that was being received.

The experimental period will allow the council to make the necessary adjustments although it should 
be noted that every time an experimental order is modified, the 6 month objection period starts again

8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
None

9. EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS
Please select one of the options below.  Where appropriate please include the hyperlink to the 
EIA.

Option 1    Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required – the EIA checklist has been completed.Page 3



EMD: V3/18 Page 3 of 3

Option 2    In determining this matter the Executive Member needs to consider the EIA associated 
with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA link here)

Option 3    In determining this matter the Executive Board Members need to consider the EIA 
associated with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA attachment)

10. CONSULTATIONS
Members of the public will be given the opportunity to comment on the experimental order during the
first 6 months from its implementation.  

11. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 
The recommendations are made further to advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 
Officer has confirmed that they do not incur unlawful expenditure.  They are also compliant with 
equality legislation and an equality analysis and impact assessment has been considered.  The 
recommendations reflect the core principles of good governance set out in the Council’s Code of 
Corporate Governance.

12. DECLARATION OF INTEREST
All Declarations of Interest of any Executive Member consulted and note of any dispensation granted 
by the Chief Executive will be recorded and published if applicable.

VERSION: 1

CONTACT OFFICER: Gina Lambert

DATE: 9th August 2018

BACKGROUND 
PAPER:

Appendix 1 -  schedule

Appendix 2 -  plans

Page 4



Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council v1.0

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT CHECKLIST

This checklist is to be used when you are uncertain if your activity requires an EIA or not.

An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is a tool for identifying the potential impact of the organisation’s 
policies, services and functions on its residents and staff. EIAs should be actively looking for negative or 
adverse impacts of policies, services and functions on any of the nine protected characteristics.  

The checklist below contains a number of questions/prompts to assist officers and service managers to 
assess whether or not the activity proposed requires an EIA. Supporting literature and useful questions are 
supplied within the EIA Guidance to assist managers and team leaders to complete all EIAs.

Service area 
& dept. Traffic Date the activity will 

be implemented 30/08/2018

 Brief 
description 
of activity

Proposed Experimental Traffic Regulation Order – Ewood Prohibition of Driving and Coach Parking 
Event Day Only

Answers 
favouring 
doing an 

EIA
Checklist question

Answers 
favouring not 
doing an EIA

Does this activity involve any of the following:
- Commissioning / decommissioning a service                - Budget changes☐  Yes
- Change to existing Council policy/strategy

☒  No

☐  Yes Does the activity impact negatively on any of the protected characteristics as 
stated within the Equality Act (2010)? ☒  No

☐  No
☐  Not sure

Is there a sufficient information / intelligence with regards to service uptake and 
customer profiles to understand the activity’s implications? ☒  Yes

Does this activity:
☐  Yes
☐  Not sure

Contribute towards unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 
other conduct prohibited by the Act 
(i.e. the activity creates or increases disadvantages suffered by people due to their 
protected characteristic)

☒  No

☐  Yes
☐  Not sure

Reduce equality of opportunity between those who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not 
(i.e. the activity fail to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these 
are different from the needs of other people)

☒  No

☐  Yes
☐  Not sure

Foster poor relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not 
(i.e. the function prevents people from protected groups to participate in public life 
or in other activities where their participation is disproportionately low)

☒  No

FOR =0 TOTAL AGAINST =6

Will you now be completing an EIA? ☐ Yes ☒ No
The EIA toolkit can be found here 

Assessment Lead Signature Gina Lambert

E&D Lead Signature Gwen Kinloch

Date 10/08/2018

Page 5

http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/server.php?show=nav.3584
http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/server.php?show=nav.3584


SCHEDULES

Schedule 1
Prohibition of Driving except access on Match Days

 (from 2 hours before the start of the match until 1 hour after the end of the match) 

Road Name Length Affected
Nuttall Street, Blackburn Full length, from its junction Top O Th’ Croft to its junction with Calico Street
Top O’ Th’ Croft, Blackburn Full length, from its junction with Bolton Road to its junction with Nuttall  Street
Velvet Street, Blackburn Full length, from its junction with Bolton Road to its junction with Nuttall Street
Tweed Street, Blackburn Full length, from its junction with Bolton Road to its junction with back Bolton Road
Kidder Street, Blackburn Full length, from its junction with Bolton Road to its junction with Nuttall Street
Tapestry Street, Blackburn Full length, from its junction with Bolton Road to its junction with Nuttall Street
Calico Street, Blackburn Full length, from its junction with Bolton Road to its junction with Nuttall Street

Schedule 2
Prohibition of Driving except access on Match Days

(from 2 hours before the start of the match until 1 hour after the end of the match or other times as required, to be 
determined by the Police or an accredited person depending on specific circumstances and category of match or 

event)

Road Name Length Affected
Bolton Road, Blackburn From its junction with Jack Walker way for a distance of 7 metres in a north westerly 

direction (north bound carriageway only)

from a point 9 metres south east of the centreline of Edmund Street for a distance of 7 
metres in a south easterly direction

from a point 4 metres south of the centreline of Kidder Street for a distance of 12 metres in a 
southerly direction (south bound carriageway only)

Bolton Road, Blackburn At its junction with Alan Shearer Way and Aqueduct Road

Schedule 3
Coach Parking 7am - 11pm Event Day only. 

Road Name Side Length Affected
Albion Road, Blackburn Both from a point 24 metres south west of the centre line of Bolton Road to 

its southerly point

Page 6



Page 7



Page 8



Page 9



EMD: V2/17 Page 1 of 6

EXECUTIVE MEMBER DECISION
REPORT OF: Executive Member for Regeneration

Executive Member for Resources
LEAD OFFICERS: Deputy Chief Executive

  

DATE

PORTFOLIO/S 
AFFECTED: 

Regeneration                                  Resources

WARD/S AFFECTED: Blackburn Central

SUBJECT:      Informal Tender re the disposal of Council Land at the former Blackburn Markets Site

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 The site identified for disposal is shown on the plan attached at Annex A and is circa 1.5 
hectares (3.8 acres) in site area. The site is situated in a prime location in Blackburn Town 
Centre and sits on the site of the former Blackburn markets buildings and former Exchange 
office building all of which have now been demolished. The former Blackburn markets site is 
currently used as a temporary car park operated by the Council.

1.2 This site is one of the key investment areas in the town centre (Investment Area 1 – see Annex 
B) and is described in detail in the Town Centre Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
which was approved at the Council’s Executive Board in August 2018. Although the Council has 
been using the site as a temporary pay and display car park, the Council now wishes to engage 
with the market to assess developer and end user interest. Subject to this interest shown the 
Council is prepared to dispose of the site for a new retail led mixed use development. The 
development will need to demonstrate how it complements and adds to the town centre offer 
and will be subject to obtaining planning permission. 

1.3 The Council is seeking to dispose of the site through an informal tender process. Bids received 
for the site will be subject to a selection process from which a preferred bidder will be identified. 
The Council shall be under no obligation to accept the highest or any offer, and criteria such as 
use, quality of design, experience, financial ability to purchase and fund the development, and 
the proposed development programme will be taken into consideration in the selection process. 
The opportunity will be advertised on the Council’s website to ensure any direct interest is 
captured including adjacent land owners and also to developers on the Councils Growth 
Framework. This will ensure that a wider interest is captured and to achieve best value for the 
Council.  

1.4 Following the tender process the Council will assess the schemes to determine suitability and a 
report will be brought to Executive Board for approval to dispose of the site to a preferred bidder 
should the Council wish to proceed with one of the schemes. 

Page 10

Agenda Item 2



EMD: V2/17 Page 2 of 6

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

That the Executive Members:

2.1 Approve the method of disposing the land identified in Annex A for the purposes of retail led 
mixed use development through an Informal Tender process.

2.2 Notes that following the tender process a further report will be brought to Executive Board for 
approval and terms to dispose of the site to a preferred bidder.

3. BACKGROUND

3.1 Since the demolition of the Former Blackburn Markets and Exchange office building, this large 
strategic development site has remained undeveloped for approximately 5 years, except for a 
temporary car park. The site is in a prime town centre location and makes for an attractive retail 
led mixed use development site. 

3.2 One of the key strategic objectives for the council as identified in the Blackburn Town Centre 
SPD and the Local Plan is to strengthen and focus the shopping offer in particular. This is 
planned to be through providing additional convenience retail floorspace and modern, flexible 
comparison retail floorspace, including the recycling and redevelopment of older floorspace, 
within the Primary Shopping Area. Future development should build on and enhance the 
investment already stimulated by The Mall.

3.3 This development site represents one of the key investment areas in the town centre and 
provides: 
 A prominent site in the north eastern part of the town centre with favourable links to bus 

and railways stations, Blackburn Cathedral and The Mall;
 Site is 1.5 hectares (3.8 acres) in area comprising part of the demolished former Markets 

and Exchange building sites;
 The site is located within the Primary Shopping Area;
 An opportunity to bring Investment Areas 1 & 2 forward together (i.e. to include the 

Thwaites site & surrounds) The Town Centre Investment Areas are identified in Annex B;
 However it must be noted that Investment Area 1 (former markets and Exchange site) is 

within the Primary Shopping Area as opposed to Investment Area 2 (Thwaites) which is 
located outside this boundary.

4. KEY ISSUES & RISKS

4.1 The site is currently being utilised as a Council operated surface level pay and display car park 
with approximately 250 spaces. Once a preferred developer has been appointed the car park 
will be decommissioned providing reduced revenue to the Council due to the loss of spaces. It is 
anticipated that any reduction in revenue will be off-set by an increase in business rates from the 
completed development.

Page 11



EMD: V2/17 Page 3 of 6

4.2 The disposal strategy will be key to ensuring delivery of high quality retail led, mixed use 
development. Any sale to a developer will be conditioned on the following to avoid speculative 
land speculation obtaining control of the site.
 Submission of a suitable full planning application before completion of the transfer.
 Contractual commitment to a start on site and completion of the development long stop 

date through a build licence agreement.

4.3 The Council has recently commissioned the following survey and investigations.

 Topographical survey
 Site feasibility study
 Geotechnical desk top assessment

These surveys have assisted the Council in understanding site constraints which could 
potentially impact on the scale of development and the value of the site and therefore any 
potential capital receipt. The surveys and specialist input from Capita have provided an insight 
into the implications of bringing the site forward for development as regards to planning and 
infrastructure issues. Planning and infrastructure requirements do not present any 
insurmountable barriers to the land being made available for development.

4.4 Council Officers have carried out an options appraisal for the site as detailed below:

Option 1    Do nothing
The site remains undeveloped. The site remains as a car park, leaving a large gap in the town 
centre offer and likelihood of pressure to approve out-of-centre retail proposals.  Continued 
opportunity for car parking income but would require ongoing management and maintenance.

Option 2    Sell the land at auction 
Disposal at auction with no restrictions is not recommended.  Although the sale would generate 
a potentially large capital receipt it is generally accepted that due to the Council having fewer 
controls over the pace and timing of any development the site may remain undeveloped. The 
Council would also have reduced influence/control over the type of development proposed for 
the site. 

Option 3    Sell the land through an informal tender
Working with a selected developer will give the Council some control to deliver the required 
outcomes This will enable the site to be brought forward in a timely manner by the preferred 
developer. There is a distinction between the disposal of land and the Council “procuring” a 
development. Generally only a formal procurement of a developer enables the Council to make 
contractual stipulations. The disposal strategy described above will enable the Council to 
exercise some control through the planning process. A capital receipt would be expected.

4.5 Recommendation – It is recommended that option 3 is progressed to offer the disposal through 
an informal tender process. This will ensure that future development will be undertaken in 
agreed timescales and quality.  Through the tender process the Council will explore ways in 
which a balance can be obtained to ensure the development is of good quality and obtains best 
value for its land.

Page 12



EMD: V2/17 Page 4 of 6

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS
5.1 The Council’s Local Plan Part 2 sets out a retail and mixed use requirement for the site, in order 

to enhance the Blackburn Town centre offer. Successful town centres are those which have 
responded to these issues and become a destination for more than simply shopping.  Our key 
objective in managing development in Blackburn and Darwen town centres is to maintain 
progress and increase their competitiveness, and to broaden their function, particularly that of 
Blackburn, beyond a traditional shopping focus, while managing any negative pressures that 
such change may bring.

5.2 Policy 26 Town Centres – a Framework for Development - sets out a framework within which 
this can take place, identifying priorities and establishing key parameters while retaining 
flexibility for the market to bring forward solutions. Key areas are as follows:-
 Strengthening and focusing the shopping offer
 Expanding the role of the town centres
 Protecting and enhancing the leisure offer and developing an evening economy
 Establishing a vibrant town centre residential population

5.3 The Local Plan Part 2 is further supported by the Town centre SPD (August 2018). The Town 
Centre SPD identifies the land at the former Blackburn markets and Exchange site as a key 
investment area as it represents one of the main opportunities in the town centre to create new 
retail and commercial floorspace at scale. 

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1 The Council currently receives car parking income from the site and in the year 2017/18 the 
Council received £105,130 inclusive of VAT. This figure is expected to increase following the 
increased capacity of the car park and the forecast income for 2018/19 will be in the region of 
£165,000 inclusive of VAT.

6.2 The completed scheme will generate business rates for the Council which are expected to offset 
the lost income from car parking.

6.3 The Council will receive a capital receipt from the sale of the site but value will be subject to 
scheme proposals and extent of abnormals.

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

7.1 The disposal of the site via an Informal Tender will help determine best consideration for the 
land. 

7.2 The Council will look to safeguard its interests in ensuring that the land is developed by agreeing 
a build programme with the developer.

7.3 Final commercial terms for the sale of the land and the completion of contractual terms will be 
presented to the Executive Board for approval.

8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
Page 13



EMD: V2/17 Page 5 of 6

8.1 The Tender process will be led by the Growth team who will also lead on detailed negotiations, 
preparation of draft Heads of Terms, complete the land disposal process and project manage 
the disposal process.

8.2 Legal resources will be required to support and complete the legal formalities relating to disposal 
and preparation of any development agreements. 

8.3 Additional support may be required from Capita for site viability assessments.

9. EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS

Please select one of the options below.  Where appropriate please include the hyperlink to the 
EIA.

Option 1    Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required – the EIA checklist has been completed.

Option 2    In determining this matter the Executive Member needs to consider the EIA associated 
with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA link here)

Option 3    In determining this matter the Executive Board Members need to consider the EIA 
associated with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA attachment)

10. CONSULTATIONS

10.1 Extensive Consultations with residents and stakeholders have been undertaken during the 
development of the Local Plan to identify key growth sites for development. 

10.2 Stakeholder consultation took place in early 2018 when compiling the Blackburn Town Centre 
SPD and this included identification of the site as an Investment Area.

10.3 Options for the site have been discussed with key members and the council’s Growth Board. 
Further consultations will take place through the formal planning process.

11. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 

The recommendations are made further to advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 
Officer has confirmed that they do not incur unlawful expenditure.  They are also compliant with 
equality legislation and an equality analysis and impact assessment has been considered.  The 
recommendations reflect the core principles of good governance set out in the Council’s Code of 
Corporate Governance.

12. DECLARATION OF INTEREST Page 14



EMD: V2/17 Page 6 of 6

All Declarations of Interest of any Executive Member consulted and note of any dispensation granted 
by the Chief Executive will be recorded and published if applicable.

VERSION: 1.0

CONTACT OFFICER: Simon Jones, Growth Programme Director

DATE: September 2018

BACKGROUND PAPER: None

Page 15



Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council v1.0

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT CHECKLIST

This checklist is to be used when you are uncertain if your activity requires an EIA or not.

An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is a tool for identifying the potential impact of the organisation’s 
policies, services and functions on its residents and staff. EIAs should be actively looking for negative or 
adverse impacts of policies, services and functions on any of the nine protected characteristics.  

The checklist below contains a number of questions/prompts to assist officers and service managers to 
assess whether or not the activity proposed requires an EIA. Supporting literature and useful questions are 
supplied within the EIA Guidance to assist managers and team leaders to complete all EIAs.

Service area 
& dept. Growth and Development Date the activity will 

be implemented Click here to enter a date.

 

Brief 
description 
of activity

As part of the Growth Programme, the Council owned Former Blackburn Markets site 
has been identified for a retail led mixed use development. Previously the Former 
Blackburn Markets and Exchange Building was located on it.  However since demolition, 
the site; remains undeveloped and is currently used as a council run surface level car 
park. Development of the site will enhance town centre offer, create a more attractive 
place for people to shop and live.

Answers 
favouring 
doing an 

EIA
Checklist question

Answers 
favouring not 
doing an EIA

Does this activity involve any of the following:
- Commissioning / decommissioning a service                - Budget changes☐  Yes
- Change to existing Council policy/strategy

☒  No

☐  Yes Does the activity impact negatively on any of the protected characteristics as 
stated within the Equality Act (2010)? ☒  No

☐  No
☐  Not sure

Is there a sufficient information / intelligence with regards to service uptake and 
customer profiles to understand the activity’s implications? ☒  Yes

Does this activity:
☐  Yes
☐  Not sure

Contribute towards unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 
other conduct prohibited by the Act 
(i.e. the activity creates or increases disadvantages suffered by people due to their 
protected characteristic)

☒  No

☐  Yes
☐  Not sure

Reduce equality of opportunity between those who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not 
(i.e. the activity fail to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these 
are different from the needs of other people)

☒  No

☐  Yes
☐  Not sure

Foster poor relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not 
(i.e. the function prevents people from protected groups to participate in public life 
or in other activities where their participation is disproportionately low)

☒  No

FOR = 0 TOTAL AGAINST = 6

Will you now be completing an EIA? ☐ Yes ☒ No
The EIA toolkit can be found here 

Assessment Lead Signature A Nickson

E&D Lead Signature Gwen Kinloch

Date 27/03/2018
Page 16

http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/server.php?show=nav.3584
http://cms.intra.blackburn.gov.uk/server.php?show=nav.3584


Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council v1.0
Page 17



Page 18



Page 19


	Agenda
	1 Proposed Experimental Traffic Regulation Order - Ewood Park Football Ground, Prohibition of Driving, Event Day coach parking
	EIA TRO
	Appendix 1 - Schedule
	Appendix 2 - Plans

	2 Informal Tender re the Disposal of Council Land at the former Blackburn Markets Site
	EIA- Former Blackburn Markets Development Site v0.01
	Annex A - Site Location Plan
	Annex B - Blackburn TC with Investment Areas


